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February 9, 2018

SENT VIA CERTIFIED U.S. MAIL; RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Commissioner Brenda Burman
Bureau of Reclamation

1849 C Street NW # 7654
Washington, DC 20240

Jeffrey Nettleton, Area Manager
Klamath Basin Area Office

U.S. Bureau of Reclamation
6600 Washburn

Klamath Falls, OR 97603

Donna Wieting, Director, Office of Protected
Resources

National Marine Fisheries Service

1315 East-West Highway

Silver Spring, MD 20910

Greg Sheehan, Director

United States Fish & Wildlife Service
1849 C Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20240

Paul Souza, Regional Director
Pacific Southwest Region, United States Fish &

Barry Thom, Regional Administrator
West Coast Region, National Marine Fisheries

Wildlife Service Service
2800 Cottage Way 1201 Northeast Lloyd Boulevard, Suite 1100
Sacramento, CA 95825 Portland, OR 97232

RE: Sixty-Day Notice of Violations of Endangered Species Act, Sections 7 and 9

Dear Commissioner Burman, Mr. Nettleton, Mr. Sheehan, Ms. Wieting, Mr. Souza, and Mr.
Thom:

The reason for this letter is to notify you of the Klamath Tribes’ intention to file suit against the
United States Bureau of Reclamation (“Bureau™), the United States Fish & Wildlife Service (“USFWS™),
and the National Marine Fisheries Service (“NMFS”) (collectively, “Agencies™) for violations of sections
7 and 9 of the Endangered Species Act (the “Act”). See 16 U.S.C. §§ 1536(a)(2), 1538(a)(1)(B). These
violations arise from the Bureau’s actions with respect to management of the Klamath Project (“Project”),
including Upper Klamath Lake, as well as the deficiencies of the USFWS and NMFS 2013 Biological
Opinion concerning the Bureau’s operation of the Project (“Biological Opinion™).

The violations described in this letter have resulted in, and will continue to result in, the unlawful
take of endangered C’waam (Lost River sucker, Deltistes luxatus) and Koptu (shortnose sucker,
Chasmistes brevirostris); the destruction and adverse modification of their critical habitat, particularly in
Upper Klamath Lake, as well as that of the Oregon spotted frog (Rana pretiosa); and imminent jeopardy
to the continued existence of the C’waam and Koptu. Indeed, in light of the parlous conditions of the
C’waam and Koptu discussed throughout this letter, and the 2018 water year anticipated, the Klamath
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Tribes believe that the 2013 Biological Opinion is inadequate to preclude the possibility of an extinction
level event for the C’waam, the Koptu, or both this water year.

The Klamath Tribes remain open to collaborating with the Bureau, USFWS, and NMFS to ensure
the continued existence of C’waam, Koptu, and the Oregon spotted frog. But if the Agencies are
unwilling to take actions necessary to protect these species, the Klamath Tribes intend to file suit in
United States District Court to remedy the violations set forth in this letter. See 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1)(a).
The Klamath Tribes file this 60-day notice now because of its overriding interest in ensuring the
continued viability of these critically endangered species in the face of what is predicted to be an
exceedingly poor water year. Over the next 60 days, Project water delivery quantities will be set by the
Bureau. It is vitally important to the Klamath Tribes that the Project allocation be reevaluated and set with
full consideration for the needs of the C’waam and Koptu, as well as the Oregon spotted frog.

BACKGROUND

The Klamath Tribes, a federally recognized Native American Nation, consists of three tribes who
traditionally inhabited Southern Oregon and Northern California: the Klamath, Modoc and Yahooskin
Band of Snake Indians. The Tribes’ headquarters are in Chiloquin, Oregon, in the heart of the Upper
Klamath River Basin.

The Tribes’ 1864 Treaty with the United States preserved hunting, fishing, trapping and gathering
rights for the Tribes and its members. These rights include, as part of the most senior water rights in the
Klamath Basin, extensive rights in Upper Klamath Lake, which also serves as a primary source of water
supply for the Project.

The C’waam and Koptu are essential tribal treaty resources for the Klamath Tribes. The C’waam
and Koptu “live in the Upper Klamath Lake and rely on certain water levels” from the Klamath Project
“for their habitat and survival.” See Hoopa Valley Tribe v. National Marine Fisheries Service, et al., 230
F. Supp. 3d 1106, 1140 (N.D. Cal. 2017). “The Klamath Project is operated by the Bureau, a federal
agency that is required to comply with ESA regulations that prohibit the taking of any endangered or
threatened species.” Id. at 1112.

C’waam and Koptu fisheries sustained the Klamath Tribes’ people for millennia. In addition to
providing for the Tribes’ subsistence, these treaty resources are central to the Tribes’ ability to maintain
and exercise their cultural and spiritual practices, which in turn are critical to the physical and social
health of tribal families and community. Without these treaty resources, the Tribes do not have the ability
to live as Klamath People in the way their Creator intended. The Klamath Tribes have a responsibility to
restore and steward the C’waam and Koptu, and other tribal treaty resources, for their current members
and future generations.

Following the construction of the Project and a century of irrigation deliveries and agricultural
practices supported by the Project, reduced lake levels and excessive nutrient loading in Upper Klamath
Lake have decimated the C’waam and Koptu. In an effort to protect these species from extinction, the
Klamath Tribes have not fished for C’waam or Koptu since 1986 (two years ahead of their formal ESA
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listing), and are restricted to taking just two fish each year for ceremonial purposes. Despite these
precautionary measures, the remaining populations in Upper Klamath Lake are declining rapidly. There
has not been a major recruitment event in over 20 years, and the remaining fish are nearing the end of
their life expectancy. Both species are on a path to extinction within a decade if the current trend
continues, even without a die-off or other significant adverse event in the coming year.

The Klamath Tribes have been actively engaged with the Bureau and USFWS to secure sufficient
water levels for protection of C’waam and Koptu in the Upper Klamath Lake and its tributaries. The
Klamath Tribes have identified Upper Klamath Lake levels to the Bureau and USFWS that provide
adequate habitat for all life stages, reduce the risk of poor water quality events, and allow the fish to
access to critical water quality refuge areas in Upper Klamath Lake. Most recently, the Klamath Tribes
met with Deputy Commissioner Alan Mikkelson on February 7, 2018, and the Bureau Technical Team as
recently as February 9, 2018, to discuss necessary lake levels and related emergency measures to ensure
the continued survival of C’waam and Koptu during the 2018 irrigation season.

Immediate measures are needed to protect the fish this year, before Project water delivery
quantities are set and delivered by the Bureau of Reclamation. While the Klamath Tribes will continue to
work with all stakeholders in the Basin, protection of the endangered C’waam and Koptu must be the
priority of the Bureau of Reclamation and the Klamath Project. See Klamath Water Users Protective
Ass 'nv. Patterson, 204 F.3d 1206, 1213 (9th Cir. 1999) (“[T]he Irrigators® rights to water are subservient
to the ESA.”).

I. The Bureau Has Violated Section 9 of the Act and Will Continue to Do So Absent an Increase in
Upper Klamath Lake Elevations Above Levels Permitted by the Biological Opinion.

“[1t is unlawful for any person subject to the jurisdiction of the United States to take any
[endangered] species within the United States.” 16 U.S.C. § 1548(a)(1)(B). For purposes of the Act,
“*take’ means to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, or collect” a member of an
endangered species. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(19). USFWS has further clarified that “harm” includes “significant
habitat modification or degradation where it actually kills or injures fish or wildlife by significantly
impairing essential behavioral patterns, including breeding, spawning, rearing, migrating, feeding or
sheltering.” 50 C.F.R. § 222.102.

Moreover, even if an incidental take permit issued under section 10 of the Act allows a federal
agency to take some members of an endangered species in connection with agency action, see 16 U.S.C. §
1539(a)(1)(B), an agency loses the permit’s protection when it exceeds the permitted take. See, e.g., Wild
Fish Conservancy v. Salazar, 628 F.3d 513, 531 (9th Cir. 2010) (“Incidental Take Statements set forth a
‘trigger’ that, when reached, results in an unacceptable level of incidental take, invalidating the safe
harbor provision.” (quoting Ariz. Cattle Growers’ Ass'n v. U.S. Fish & Wildlife, 273 F.3d 1229, 1249 (9th
Cir. 2001)).





















